ANNOTATIONS AND COMMENTS
18 U.S.C. § 1029(a)(2) provides: (a) Whoever - -

(2) knowingly and with intent to defraud traffics in or uses one or more unauthorized access devices during any one-year period, and by such conduct obtains anything of value aggregating $1,000 or more during that period [shall be guilty of an offense against the United States] if the offense affects interstate commerce or foreign commerce . . . .

Maximum Penalty:  Ten (10) years imprisonment (if the offense does not occur after a conviction for another offense under this section), or twenty (20) years imprisonment (if the  offense  occurs  after  a  conviction  for  another  offense  under  this  section)  and applicable fine.

United States v. Sepulveda, 115 F.3d 882 (11th Cir. 1997) (un-programmed ESN-MIN combinations constitute access devices within the meaning of § 1029).

United States v. Dabbs, 134 F.3d 1071 (11th Cir. 1998) (a merchant account number constitutes an access device).

See United States v. Klopf, 423 F.3d 1228 (11th Cir. 2005). The Defendant in that case was a fugitive, who, without authorization, obtained credit cards from various banks in the names of four other individuals. He was charged with, and convicted of, inter alia, using unauthorized credit cards in violation of § 1029(a)(2). He argued on appeal that he could not be convicted under the statute because he merely “borrow[ed] the creditworthiness of  unsuspecting individuals to  open  corporate accounts in  order  to utilize credit cards because he was unable to apply for credit cards under his own name because of his fugitive status.” He contended that he did not possess the requisite intent to defraud because he made regular payments on the credit card accounts. The Eleventh Circuit rejected the arguments, holding that the credit cards were clearly obtained with intent to defraud and that it was “irrelevant” that the defendant made payments on the cards because, “in each application for a credit card, he intended to defraud the banks by representing to them that they were dealing with persons other than himself.” 

[bookmark: _GoBack]If the indictment alleges one of the sentencing enhancing circumstances listed in § 2326 (telemarketing, victimizing 10 or more persons over age 55, or targeting persons over age 55), that factor should be stated as an additional element under the principle of Apprendi and consideration should be given to a lesser included offense instruction, Special Instruction 10.
